
Zoning Board of Appeals 
May 22, 2013 Regular Meeting 

 
 

STAFF REPORT 
 
 
Subject: ZBA13-010, 2300 Traverwood Drive 
 
Summary: First Martin Corporation is requesting two variances: 
 

1) A variance from Chapter 60(Wetlands) Section 5:204 (1) A proposal to fill 6,787 
square feet of wetland without obtaining the required Wetland Use Permit.  
 

2) A variance from Chapter 59(Off-Street Parking) Section 5:167 (Required Parking) of 
231 parking spaces in order to exceed the maximum number of parking spaces 
permitted. A maximum of 268 parking spaces is permitted.  
 

 
Background: 

 
The parcel is zoned ORL (office, research, limited industrial district) and is located on the 
southeast corner of Traverwood and Huron Parkway. The parcel is 13.2 acres and contains a 
large linear wetland through the center of the site.  This large wetland is regulated by the City of 
Ann Arbor and will not be affected by the proposed construction of the parking lot or future 
building. There is one 66,878 square foot office building existing which was constructed in 1999. 
There is a valid site plan approved for a second 66,878 square foot building, as well as the 
corresponding required parking, to be constructed on the site. The petitioner has recently 
submitted an Administrative Amendment in order to extend the expiration date of the site plan 
and install only the parking (without the corresponding building) approved for Phase II at this 
time. Installation of that parking would exceed the maximum number of spaces permitted for the 
existing building. After construction of the parking, the site will have 525 parking spaces, there 
are currently 294 parking spaces on the site. The maximum permitted by code is 268; however 
the existing building was constructed before the maximum parking requirement was adopted.     
 
In 1996-97 the site was mass graded in preparation for construction of the existing office 
building. This grading did create an area that has evolved into a wetland as categorized by the 
City of Ann Arbor. The previous site plan approved for the exiting building did not designate this 
area as a wetland. In preparation for the current Administrative Amendment, the petitioner 
enlisted a wetland consultant to verify existing wetland boundaries. During this process, the 
consultant flagged this additional area as a wetland. The new wetland area is approximately 
6,787 square feet and would be considered a low quality wetland per the Land Development 
Regulations of Chapter 57, however due to its proximity to an inland, lake or stream as defined 
by the State of Michigan, it may be regulated by the MDEQ.  City wetland regulations are 
independent of MDEQ wetland regulations; and approval by one entity does not constitute 
approval by the other.   The petitioner must submit an application to the MDEQ for disturbance 
to the new wetland; if the MDEQ determines a wetland permit is required, this permit will need to 
be obtained and provided to the City before construction is allowed to proceed. If MDEQ 
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determines that a state wetland permit is not required, than the MDEQ’s determination letter 
must be provided to the City.   
 
The petitioner is proposing to remove this wetland in order to construct a new parking lot, the 
petitioner has indicated that protection of the wetland will result in approximately 70 less parking 
spaces. According to Chapter 60 (Wetlands), a wetland use permit is required to fill the wetland. 

5:204. - Activities which require a use permit. 

Except as otherwise provided by this chapter or by a use permit obtained from the 
city, a person shall not:  

(1) Deposit or permit the placing of fill material in a wetland.(emphasis 
added by staff) 

(2) Dredge, remove, or permit the removal of soil or minerals from a wetland. 
(3) Construct, operate, or maintain any use or development in a wetland 

including draining or directing water from an upland activity into a wetland.  
(4) Drain surface water from a wetland. 

   
The petitioner could construct all improvements shown on the existing site plan without the need 
for a wetland use permit (due to the fact the wetlands were not identified at the last plan review). 
However, the building and parking would have to be constructed, as approved previously, in 
order to avoid exceeding the maximum parking permitted.   
 
 
Variance #1: 

 
Chapter 60 (Wetlands) Variance - Standards for Approval  
 
The ZBA has the power to grant a variance from the Wetland Use Permit requirement according 
to Chapter 60 Section 5:220: 
 

(1) A decision by an administrative official of the City regarding a use permit 
may be appealed to the Zoning Board of Appeals, in accordance with 
procedures established in Chapter 55. Except as provided for in section (2), 
the zoning board of appeals will have the same powers and limitations as 
provided in Chapter 55 

(2) A variance may be granted from the provisions of this chapter when 
evidence supports at least one of the following affirmative findings:  
 

http://library.municode.com/HTML/11782/level2/TITVZOPL_CH55ZO.html#TITVZOPL_CH55ZO
http://library.municode.com/HTML/11782/level2/TITVZOPL_CH55ZO.html#TITVZOPL_CH55ZO
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(a) That the public benefit intended to be served by this chapter will 
be retained, despite more disruption of the wetland than permitted.  
(b) That the topographical features or special characteristics of the 
site create conditions such that strict application of the provisions of 
this chapter will result in less protection of the wetland.  
(c) That the application of this chapter would deny all reasonable use 
of the property. 
(d) That practical difficulties or unnecessary hardship exist or will 
occur as specified in Chapter 55, Section 5:99 of the City Code.  

 
The petitioner is seeking a variance from the requirement for a wetland use permit based on the 
fact the wetland has evolved after the re-grading of the site from previous construction activity. A 
Wetland Use Permit is required by Chapter 60 and must be approved by City Council after a 
recommendation by the City Planning Commission. If the variance is approved, no action by 
Planning Commission or City Council will be required. However, the approval from the MDEQ 
may still be required. City staff will review the Administrative Amendment and grading plans to 
ensure no impact to the larger linear wetland will occur.  
 
 
 
Variance #2: 
 
Chapter 59 (Off-Street Parking) Variance - Standards for Approval  
 
The Zoning Board of Appeals has all the power granted by State law and by Section 5:99, 
Application of the Variance Power, from the City of Ann Arbor Zoning Ordinance and Chapter 
59, Section 5:566.  The following criteria shall apply: 
 

The Zoning Board of Appeals shall have authority to interpret this chapter and may 
 in specific cases and after public notice and hearings in accordance with Chapter 
 55 of this Code grant variances and exceptions to these requirements, providing 
 such variance or exception is in harmony with the general purpose and intent of 
 the requirements. The procedural requirements for appeals under Chapter 55 shall 
 be applicable to appeals under this chapter.  

The petitioner is seeking to exceed the maximum number of parking spaces by 231 spaces. The 
parking maximum was established in 2000 and was intended to help limit unnecessary 
impervious surfaces and prevent new developments from providing parking far in excess of 
what is needed on a daily basis. The existing office building was constructed in 1999 before a 
maximum parking standard was adopted. While Chapter 59 limits the amount of parking that 

http://library.municode.com/HTML/11782/level2/TITVZOPL_CH55ZO.html#TITVZOPL_CH55ZO
http://library.municode.com/HTML/11782/level3/TITVZOPL_CH55ZO_ARTIXZOBOAP.html#TITVZOPL_CH55ZO_ARTIXZOBOAP_5_99APVAPO
http://library.municode.com/HTML/11782/level2/TITVZOPL_CH55ZO.html#TITVZOPL_CH55ZO
http://library.municode.com/HTML/11782/level2/TITVZOPL_CH55ZO.html#TITVZOPL_CH55ZO
http://library.municode.com/HTML/11782/level2/TITVZOPL_CH55ZO.html#TITVZOPL_CH55ZO


Zoning Board of Appeals 
ZBA13-010 Variance 
May 22, 2013 - Page 4 
 
can be provided, the general purpose and intent is to ensure all developments have sufficient 
parking for customers and employees.  The new parking area will be designed using code 
requirements for depressed bio-retention islands in order to minimize storm water impacts. The 
proposed parking is not visible from a public street and not adjacent to any residential uses.  
The petitioner has provided additional bicycle parking on-site and will provide additional data at 
the ZBA meeting, such as parking counts and methods use to encourage alternative 
transportation. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 

 
Matthew J.  Kowalski, AICP 
City Planner 
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